In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

 \mathbf{v}_{\bullet}

MARK BUZA,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S223698

SUPREME COURT

MAY **26** 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

First Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. A125542
San Francisco County Superior Court, Case No. 207818
The Honorable Carol Yaggy, Judge

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the collection and analysis of forensic identification DNA database samples from all adult felony arrestees, as required by Proposition 69, violates article I, section 13 of the California Constitution or the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution.

INTRODUCTION

A DNA identification profile is a way of representing certain information about human DNA that is so highly individualized that it amounts, like a fingerprint, to a very specific identifying characteristic. Because of the way the profile is constructed, it does not reveal any sensitive information about an individual. It provides very accurate identification—and nothing else.

In 1998, the Legislature required the collection of DNA identification information from all persons convicted of specified offenses. A number of Court of Appeal decisions sustained that requirement against constitutional challenges, and this court endorsed those decisions in *People v. Robinson* (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1104, 1121. In 2004 the voters adopted Proposition 69, which amended the law to require, beginning in 2009, that all adults arrested for felony offenses provide DNA identification information. At least 27 other states, and the United States, have similar statutes.

Appellant Mark Buza was convicted of refusing to provide a DNA cheek swab during booking for a felony arrest in January 2009. In 2011, the Court of Appeal invalidated Buza's conviction on the ground that requiring him to provide DNA identification information as part of the processing of his arrest violated the Fourth Amendment. This court granted review, but ultimately remanded the case to the Court of Appeal for further consideration in light of the United States Supreme Court's decision in Maryland v. King (2013) ____ U.S. ___ [133 S.Ct. 1958, 1980] ("King"),

which held that "DNA identification of arrestees is a reasonable search that can be considered part of a routine booking procedure." In 2014, the Court of Appeal again invalidated Buza's conviction, disagreeing with *King*'s result and reasoning but this time basing its holding on the parallel searchand-seizure provision in article I, section 13 of the California Constitution.

California's collection of DNA identification information from felony arrestees does not violate either the federal or the state Constitution. As to federal law, the Act's provisions are not materially different from those sustained in King, which resolves the Fourth Amendment question. As to state law, this court normally defers to decisions of the federal Supreme Court when that court has first addressed a question that arises under both the federal Constitution and a parallel state provision. Here, the text of the state search-and-seizure provision is substantially identical to that of the Fourth Amendment, and its history shows that the two provisions should be construed and applied in the same way. King's reasoning and result are sound; the decision did not limit rights previously established under federal law; and following it for state purposes would not limit rights previously recognized by this court. Moreover, the challenged provision was adopted directly by the voters, in a statute that is presumed to be valid and must be given effect unless it clearly violates the Constitution. There is no reason for this court to depart from its usual practice and create an unwarranted disparity between state and federal law by declining to follow King.

In any event, it is constitutionally reasonable to collect DNA identifying information as part of the booking procedure for every felony arrest. Law enforcement officers have long recorded various identifying characteristics of any person who is subjected to custodial arrest based on probable cause to believe that he or she has committed a crime. This information serves important public interests related to processing arrestees within the criminal justice system, including confirming that an individual

is who he says he is and learning what can be ascertained about his past criminal conduct and prior encounters with the law. Keeping records of identifying characteristics also enables authorities to identify the same individual accurately if he is arrested again in the future or leaves evidence at a future crime scene. DNA identification profiles serve these interests in much the same way as traditional identifiers such as fingerprints or photographs, only better. In contrast to the strong public interest in collecting this information, the collection of DNA identification information imposes only a modest incremental intrusion on the legitimate privacy interests of individuals who are already being arrested. The physical collection involves only a simple cheek swab; an arrestee has no legitimate expectation of privacy regarding his identity; and the law forbids any use of DNA samples or profiles that is not related to identification. The law strictly limits access to samples and the identifying information derived from them, contains multiple safeguards against improper uses, and allows arrestees who are not convicted of a qualifying offense to have their samples destroyed and their information expunged. There is nothing unreasonable about the State's collection and use of DNA identification information in this carefully controlled manner.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Trial Proceedings

Police arrested Mark Buza on January 21, 2009, after he set fire to a police car parked near a high school. (1 RT 17-19, 22-23, 26-27, 29.) A police officer observed a flame on the tire of the car, and saw Buza jump up from behind the car and run into a wooded area holding something in his hand. (1 RT 22-24.) Another officer found Buza hiding in the wooded area. (1 RT 54-56.) Police searched the area where Buza was hiding and

found a road flare and a bottle containing a clear liquid that smelled like gasoline. (1 RT 41-43, 56.)

After Buza was arrested and brought to the county jail, a sheriff's deputy asked Buza to provide a DNA sample using a cheek swab, as required by Penal Code section 296. (2 RT 107.)¹ The deputy stated that Buza was required to submit a sample and showed him a form explaining the requirement, but Buza refused to provide the sample. (2 RT 108-109.)

The district attorney charged Buza with arson (§ 451, subd. (d)); possession of combustible material with intent to willfully and maliciously set fire to property (§ 453, subd. (a)); vandalism (§ 594, subd. (b)(1)); and refusal to provide a DNA sample in violation of Penal Code section 298.1, subdivision (a), a provision of the DNA and Forensic Identification Data Base and Data Bank Act of 1998 (the DNA Act). (CT 7-8.) Buza pleaded not guilty to all four charges. (CT 9-10.)

Buza moved for an acquittal on the refusal count, arguing that the "nonconsensual gathering of biological samples constitutes a search and seizure subject to Fourth Amendment protection" and that his felony arrest was "a constitutionally inadequate basis for requiring [him] to give a biological sample." (CT 39.) The trial court denied the motion. (CT 59; see also 7 RT 290-296.)

At trial, Buza admitted that he poured a flammable material on all four tires of the police car and lit the material on fire. (3 RT 186, 193-194.) He knew "the whole car could have went up in flames." (3 RT 196.) He also admitted refusing to provide a DNA sample after his arrest. (3 RT 197.) The jury found him guilty on all counts. (CT 85-91;

¹ All statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise indicated.

5 RT 266.) Buza provided a DNA sample only after his conviction, when the trial court ordered him to do so. (See CT 121-122, 146-147.)

B. The Court of Appeal's 2011 Decision

In 2011, the Court of Appeal struck down the DNA Act's requirement that adult felony arrestees provide a DNA sample at the time of booking. (Aug. 4, 2011 slip opn., p. 1, invalidating § 296, subd. (a)(2)(C).) It concluded "that the DNA Act, to the extent it requires felony arrestees to submit a DNA sample for law enforcement analysis and inclusion in the state and federal DNA databases, without independent suspicion, a warrant or even a judicial or grand jury determination of probable cause, unreasonably intrudes on such arrestees' expectation of privacy and is invalid under the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution." (*Id.* at p. 44.)

This court granted the People's petition for review. (S196200.) After briefing, the court deferred action pending the United States Supreme Court's consideration of *Maryland v. King*, which involved a Fourth Amendment challenge to Maryland's statute requiring the collection of DNA from arrestees. After the federal Supreme Court upheld Maryland's statute, this court transferred Buza's case back to the Court of Appeal "with directions to vacate its decision and to reconsider the cause in light of *Maryland v. King* [citation]."

C. The Court of Appeal's 2014 Decision

In 2014, the Court of Appeal again struck down the DNA Act. The court's summary of its new holding tracked that from its prior opinion word-for-word, except that the new opinion rested exclusively on article I, section 13 of the California Constitution. (Compare opn. p. 60 with Aug. 4, 2011 slip opn., p. 44; see also opn. pp. 2, 17-18.)

The Court of Appeal first discussed the decision in *Maryland v. King*. The court criticized the Supreme Court's Fourth Amendment analysis (see, e.g., opn. pp. 15, 22, 23, fn. 8, 24), quoting at length from the "piercing dissent" (*id.* at p. 13; see *id.* at pp. 13-15, 21, 28-29, 32, fn. 14, 38, 46). Ultimately, however, the court did not purport to base its decision on the Fourth Amendment.

Turning instead to the state Constitution, the court acknowledged that "our Supreme Court has recognized a 'general principle or policy of deference to United States Supreme Court decisions' in interpreting provisions of the California Constitution that are textually parallel to those of the federal Constitution" (Opn. p. 19, quoting *Raven v. Deukmejian* (1990) 52 Cal.3d 336, 353 ("*Raven*").) The court declined, however, to defer to *King*. (Opn. p. 22.)

Undertaking its own balancing of interests, the court flatly rejected the premise, accepted by *King* and reflected in the text of the DNA Act, that the State uses DNA identification profiles of arrestees as part of its standard collection of identifying information—including information linking the arrested individual to any prior criminal activity. (Opn. p. 27; see *id.* at pp. 27-38.) In the court's view, the State's "actual" interest in obtaining DNA identification profiles was to use them in investigating past or future crimes. (Opn. p. 38, italics omitted.) Reliance on that interest, the court concluded, could not "be squared with established constitutional principles protecting against suspicionless searches." (*Ibid.*)

The court also rejected *King*'s evaluation of the limited incremental intrusion on privacy involved in collecting DNA identifying information from those already subjected to custodial arrest. To the contrary, it reasoned that the "DNA Act intrudes too quickly and too deeply into the privacy interests of arrestees." (*Id.* at p. 45; see *id.* at pp. 45-57.) Asserting that the Act "places few restrictions on the law enforcement uses to which"

DNA samples may be put, the court expressed concern that samples could be used for genetic or behavioral research, or that police might make pretextual arrests in order to obtain a suspect's DNA, without a warrant, as part of an otherwise unrelated investigation. (Id. at pp. 25-26, 49, 55.) Similarly, the court worried that the State could use "familial" searches to intrude "into the privacy interests of arrestees['] biological relatives" (id. at p. 45)—although it acknowledged that California conducts such searches on the database of DNA profiles from convicted offenders, not on the database of profiles from arrestees (id. at p. 17). Expressly rejecting the analogy between DNA identification profiles and conventional fingerprints drawn by King and other decisions, the court again relied on the potential for unlawful misuse of DNA samples to reason that "fingerprinting presents no threat to privacy comparable to that posed by DNA analysis." (Id. at p. 26; see id. at pp. 23-26.) Ultimately, the court concluded that privacy concerns outweighed the State's interests in collecting DNA samples from felony arrestees at booking. (See id. at pp. 57-60.)

ARGUMENT

I. THE DNA ACT AND PROPOSITION 69

A DNA identification profile is derived by measuring certain loci in an individual's DNA. Those loci all feature a stretch of paired bases that repeat themselves, with the number of repeats varying from person to person. (See *United States v. Kincade* (9th Cir. 2004) 379 F.3d 813, 818 (en banc) ("*Kincade*"); Butler, Forensic DNA Typing (2d ed. 2005) pp. 123-142 ("Typing").) Forensic scientists use standardized techniques and equipment to measure (or "type") the repeats. (See generally *People v. Jackson* (2008) 163 Cal.App.4th 313, 322-323 (maj. opn. of Cantil-Sakauye, J.); Typing, *supra*, at pp. 7, 85-117, 313-387.)

The result of this process is a standardized profile listing the number of repeats at up to 15 loci in an individual's DNA. (See Chin et al., Forensic DNA Evidence (The Rutter Group 2014) § 8.6 ("Forensic DNA").) Comparing the profiles generated by two different DNA samples allows analysts to determine to a near certainty whether the samples came from the same individual. Thus, for example, analysts may use a DNA identification profile to ascertain whether human biological materials found at a crime scene, such as blood, are very likely associated with any individual whose comparable profile is stored in a database of known offenders. (Banks v. United States (10th Cir. 2007) 490 F.3d 1178, 1188 ("Banks"); see, e.g., Butler, Advanced Topics in Forensic DNA Typing: Methodology (2012) pp. 231-232 ("Methodology").) Conversely, a profile developed from a sample provided by a particular individual can be compared to existing forensic databases to determine whether, for example, the same individual was present at a prior crime scene. Significantly, however, the loci measured in developing these identification profiles are all found in "noncoding" regions of the human genome: they are not directly related to making proteins, and have no known association with disease or any other genetic predisposition. (Methodology, supra, at p. 240.) Accordingly, the profiles themselves are useful only for purposes of comparing them with each other and identifying matches.

California has collected blood, saliva, or cheek swab samples from certain classes of offenders since 1984.² In 1998, the Legislature enacted the DNA and Forensic Identification Data Base and Data Bank Act. (§ 295 et seq.) The DNA Act "require[d] DNA and forensic identification data banks samples from all persons" convicted of specified offenses. (§ 295,

 $^{^2}$ See former \S 290.2, added by Stats. 1983, ch. 700 \S 1, repealed and replaced by \S 295 et seq., added by Stats. 1998, ch. 696, $\S\S$ 1-2.

subd. (b)(2).) In 2004, the voters amended the DNA Act through Proposition 69. (Prop. 69, as approved by voters, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 2, 2004).) Among other things, Proposition 69 required every adult person arrested for or charged with a felony to provide a DNA sample, to be used for identification purposes only. (§ 296, subd. (a)(2)(C).) That new requirement took effect on January 1, 2009. (*Ibid.*)

Proposition 69 modified the standard booking procedure for all felony arrestees. That procedure has long involved "the taking by the police of fingerprints and photographs of the person arrested." (§ 7, subd. (21).) After Proposition 69, adult felony arrestees must also provide a DNA sample "immediately following arrest, or during the booking or intake or prison reception center process or as soon as administratively practicable after arrest" (§ 296.1, subd. (a)(1)(A); see § 296, subd. (a)(2)(C).) The ordinary method for collecting DNA samples is a "buccal swab," involving a brief application of a small swab to the inside of the arrestee's cheek. (§ 295, subd. (e).) The collection must be supervised by a person "trained to assist in buccal swab collection," using a kit approved by the Department of Justice. (§ 298, subd. (b)(3); see § 295, subd. (i)(2).) After officials collect a sample at booking, they must immediately forward it to the Department of Justice. (§ 295, subd. (i)(1)(C).)

Proposition 69 contains detailed findings and declarations of purpose. (Prop. 69, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 2, 2004) § I, subd. (d).) The electorate found that "[t]he state has a compelling interest in the accurate identification of criminal offenders, and it is reasonable to expect qualifying offenders to provide forensic DNA samples for the limited identification purposes set forth in this chapter." (*Id.* § II, subd. (f).) Expanding California's DNA database to include profiles from felony arrestees would also help "accomplish effective crime solving in California," "aid in the

identification of missing and unidentified persons," and help "exonerate persons wrongly suspected or accused of crime." (*Id.* § II, subd. (d)(1).)

Consistent with these important but circumscribed goals, the DNA Act strictly limits the use of DNA samples to "identification purposes." (§ 295.1, subd. (a).) It expressly forbids the use of samples collected under the Act "as a source of genetic material for testing, research, or experiments, by any person, agency, or entity seeking to find a causal link between genetics and behavior or health." (§ 295.2.) It also makes the information obtained from DNA samples confidential, including barring the Department from disclosing the information under public disclosure laws. (§ 299.5, subds. (a)-(b).) Only certain designated government laboratories may upload crime-scene profiles and profiles obtained from arrestees and convicted offenders and make comparisons between them. (§ 297, subd. (a).) All laboratories that process DNA samples must be accredited and must meet federal and state quality-assurance requirements. (§ 297, subd. (d).)

Anyone who knowingly uses a DNA sample or profile for anything other than "criminal identification or exclusion purposes" or "the identification of missing persons" is guilty of a crime punishable by up to three years in prison. (§ 299.5, subd. (i)(1)(A).) Anyone who misuses DNA samples or profiles for the purpose of financial gain is subject to a criminal fine. (§ 299.5, subd. (i)(1)(B).) Any employee of the Department of Justice who knowingly misuses DNA information is also liable for civil damages. (§ 299.5, subd. (i)(2)(A).)

California's DNA database program is part of the nationwide Combined DNA Index System (CODIS). (See § 297, subd. (b) [authorizing participation].) This system enables laboratories at the federal, state, and local levels to exchange and compare DNA identification profiles electronically by uploading profiles to a national database operated by the

FBI. Like fingerprint database programs, CODIS uses computers to identify DNA profiles from crime scenes and other sources by comparing them to the stored profiles of arrestees and convicted offenders. (See generally FBI, Combined DNA Index System http://www.fbi.gov/about-us/lab/biometricanalysis/codis/codis_brochure [as of May 13, 2015].)³ As a participant in CODIS, California must meet privacy and quality-control requirements set by the federal government, in addition to those imposed independently by state law. (42 U.S.C. § 14132(c); see § 297, subds. (b), (d); see also Typing, *supra*, at p. 41 and Appendix IV.) Federal law also provides additional criminal penalties for unauthorized access to or disclosure of DNA information contained in any federal databases. (42 U.S.C. § 14133(c).)

California allows arrestees to have their DNA identification information expunged, and their samples destroyed, under certain circumstances. The expungement process is ordinarily initiated by the arrestee. (§ 299, subd. (b).)⁴ An arrestee may seek a court order requiring the State to expunge a profile and destroy the corresponding sample if the case was dismissed, the arrestee was found not guilty or factually innocent of the charged offense, or if no felony charges were filed within the applicable time period. (§ 299, subds. (b), (c).) Alternatively, the arrestee

³ A DNA profile from an arrestee or convicted offender must contain information for 13 "core" loci before it may be submitted to the national database through CODIS. (Typing, *supra*, at pp. 94, 441.) California, like many other states, currently tests 15 loci, including the core CODIS loci. (See generally Forensic DNA, *supra*, §§ 2.2, 8.6.)

⁴ The expungement process for individuals arrested for federal crimes operates the same way. (See 42 U.S.C. § 14132(d); FBI, CODIS-Expungement Policy http://www.fbi.gov/about-us/lab/biometric-analysis/codis/codis_expungement> [as of May 13, 2015].)

may request expungement through a simplified and expedited process using a two-page form available on the Department of Justice website.⁵

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