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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

As Justice O'Connor began the opinion in another case implicating a state's sovereignty and the independence of its procedures, "This is a case about federalism." (*Coleman v. Thompson* (1991) 501 U.S. 722, 726.)³ The Court of Appeal's decision invalidating California's regimen for mandatory pre-charging DNA searches for all felony arrests reflects the longstanding principle that the California Constitution is a document of "independent force."

Though the federal Constitution sets a minimum constitutional floor, the rights of California residents under the state Constitution are not solely dependent upon the U.S. Supreme Court's construction of parallel provisions of the federal charter. California courts can and must construe the state proscription against unreasonable searches and seizures (art. I, § 13), as well as other provisions, independently where a decision of the U.S. Supreme Court affords insufficient protection for the core rights guaranteed by the California Constitution. The independence of the rights guaranteed by the California Constitution represents such an integral component of our state's system of government that this Court struck down, as beyond the authority of the initiative process, a provision of a 1990 ballot measure (Prop. 115) that purported to remove the California courts' authority to construe the state charter independently. (*Raven v. Deukmejian* (1990) 52 Cal.3d 336, 349-355.)

The DNA Act's mandate for pre-charging, pre-arraignment DNA searches of all felony arrestees presents exactly the kind of situation in which this Court has often looked to the more robust protections of the state search

³ Coleman was not a search-and-seizure case. The necessity to respect the independence of a state's rules arose in the context of federal habeas review.

clause. The U.S. Supreme Court recently upheld a more closely drawn Maryland DNA statute against a Fourth Amendment challenge in *Maryland v. King* (2013) ___ U.S. __, 133 S.Ct. 1958. However, *King* was a closely-divided 5-4 decision. In addition to Justice Scalia's incisive dissent in *King* (also joined by Justices Ginsburg, Sotomayor, and Kagan), the *King* opinion has been the subject of substantial critical academic commentary.

The King majority disposition rests on a troubling conflation of investigation of possible crimes unrelated to the arrest with "identification" of the arrestee, which stretches the concept of "identification" beyond any ordinary understanding of that term. That reasoning is highly problematic, even as to the less sweeping arrestee search provisions of the Maryland law, which included more effective safeguards, including automatic expungement for arrestees not ultimately convicted. The Vermont Supreme Court recently struck down that state's DNA arrestee search regimen, on those grounds, under the Vermont Constitution, which (like Cal. Const., art. I, § 13) has long provided "heightened" protections against unreasonable searches, especially in the arrestee context. (State v. Medina (Vt. 2014) 102 A.3d 661, 663.)

As addressed in the appellate opinion in *Buza II*, there are still more compelling reasons for finding the California DNA Act unconstitutional under the "more exacting" standard of article I, section 13 (as well as the separate state privacy clause, art. I, § 1). The California Act sweeps more broadly and has fewer procedural protections than the Maryland regimen, in three crucial respects.

 Unlike the Maryland statute, which applies only to arrests for a discrete set of sexual assaults and other violent offenses, the California DNA Act mandates DNA searches for *any* felony arrest, including for the scores of non-violent offenses that have no reasonable correlation with

- a propensity toward violent offenses.
- Under the Maryland statute, as well as those of many other states, there is no submission of DNA for inclusion in state and national databases until a prosecutor has charged the arrestee with a qualifying felony and a magistrate has made a preliminary determination of probable cause at arraignment. But, as the Buza's case illustrates, in California it is the police decision to arrest someone for a felony which triggers the DNA collection and and testing. The search occurs prior to either a prosecutorial charging decision or any preliminary judicial review of probable cause. Conducting the search upon arrest, rather than arraignment, advances the testing by only two-to-four days, but that modest benefit has immense privacy consequences. It results in retention of the genetic data of the tens of thousands of arrestees who are not even charged or whose cases are dismissed within days of arrest.
- The Maryland statute provides for *automatic expungement* of the DNA of any former arrestee who is not ultimately convicted of a qualifying felony. California's expungement provisions could not be more different. Although California makes non-convicted former arrestees *eligible* to seek expungement, the process is not automatic. The onus is entirely on the arrestee to initiate a cumbersome petition process, usually without assistance of counsel and without even notice from the state of its existence and requirements. Even then, there is no assurance of expungement. A prosecutor may veto any expungement request, *and* a trial court has discretion to deny it. To cap things off, a denial of expungement is not reviewable, either by appeal or writ.

The Court of Appeal properly found that the California DNA Act could

not survive scrutiny under the California Constitution. Because that state ground was dispositive, the appellate court found it unnecessary to resolve whether the DNA Act also offended the Fourth Amendment. This Court should do the same and should decide the matter under the California Constitution. There is no reason to decide the federal question.

In any event, as the appellate court observed, the significant differences between the California and Maryland statutes — in California's coverage of arrests for all felonies, its submission of DNA at the time of arrest prior to charging or arraignment, and its failure to provide for automatic expungement — provide ample grounds for distinguishing *Maryland v. King*. In all these respects, the governmental interest in California's more sweeping DNA regimen is substantially lesser, while the invasion of reasonable expectations of privacy is far greater. These distinctions decisively skew the delicate balance struck in *King*. Should this Court reach the issue, it should find that the California DNA Act violates the Fourth Amendment, as well.

I. AN OVERVIEW OF THE PROVISIONS OF THE CALIFORNIA DNA ACT MANDATING DNA COLLECTION FROM ALL ADULT FELONY ARRESTEES

A. The History of DNA Collection in California

Over the past three decades, California has successively expanded its collection and retention of DNA in the criminal justice system. The current sweeping statutory mandate for compulsory collection of DNA from all adult felony arrestees is but the latest and most consequential extension.

Since 1984, the state has collected samples from offenders *convicted* of certain enumerated serious crimes. (See *Haskell v. Brown* (N.D. Cal. 2009) 677 F.Supp. 2d 1187, 1190.)⁴ In 1998, the Legislature enacted the California DNA Act (§§ 295- 300.3), authorizing DNA collection from an expanded group of offenders convicted of specified serious and violent crimes. (*Haskell* at 1190; *People v. Robinson* (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1104, 1116-1117.)

In November 2004, California voters enacted Proposition 69, which amended the DNA Act to mandate collection from a still broader set of convicted offenders and from specified arrestees. The amended statute

⁴ As discussed in the appellate opinion, *Haskell* arose on a federal civil rights challenge to the California DNA Act. The district court declined to enjoin the state's collection of DNA from arrestees. The Ninth Circuit affirmed that decision in a terse per curiam opinion, based on the plaintiffs' concession that they could not satisfy the prerequisites for a class-wide injunction. (*Haskell v. Harris* (9th Cir. 2014) 745 F.3d 1269.) Due to the narrow, procedural basis of that disposition, the Ninth Circuit "did not adjudicate the constitutionality of the DNA Act; it only held that plaintiffs were not entitled to a preliminary injunction." (Slip opn., p. 18 fn. 6.) We cite the district court decision in *Haskell*, not for its legal analysis (which was superseded by the later Ninth Circuit decision), but solely for its explanation of the mechanics of California's DNA search protocols, because the district court had the benefit of a more fully developed factual record.

required DNA samples from all adults and juveniles *convicted* of any felony, of any misdemeanor with a prior felony conviction, or of any offense requiring sex offender or arson registration. (§§ 296, 296.1.)⁵ Also, effective immediately in 2004, the amendments required collection of DNA upon arrests for specified violent offenses – sexual assaults, murder and voluntary manslaughter. (§ 296(a)(2).)

Most importantly, Proposition 69 mandated the collection of DNA from all adults arrested for any felony, beginning in January 2009. (§ 296(a)(2)(C).)⁶ The stated purpose of the California DNA Act "is to assist ... in the expeditious and accurate detention and prosecution of individuals responsible for sex offenses and other crimes." (§ 295(c).)

B. The Mechanics of DNA Testing in California

California mandates the collection and retention of DNA from every

⁵ This Court and the appellate courts upheld these provisions requiring DNA collections from convicted offenders. (*Robinson*, 47 Cal.4th at 1119-1121; *People v. Travis* (2006) 139 Cal.App.4th 1271; *Alfaro v. Terhune* (2002) 98 Cal.App.4th 492.)

⁶ California's continuing expansion of DNA collection corresponds to a nationwide trend. All fifty states require the collection of DNA from those convicted of felonies. (*Maryland v. King*, 133 S.Ct. at 1968.) Twenty- seven states, in addition to California, mandate DNA collection from those arrested for some or all felonies. (Respondent's Opening Brief on Merits (ROBM) 1, 25.) Federal law has followed a similar trajectory. Since 2000, the federal DNA Act has required the collection of DNA from convicted offenders – first, only for convictions of violent offenses and later for all felonies. In 2006, Congress expanded DNA collection to arrests for all felonies, sex offenses or violent crimes, effective January 2009. (*United States v. Mitchell* (3rd Cir. 2011) 652 F.3d 387, 399, 401, 405; *United States v. Kriesel* (9th Cir. 2007) 508 F.3d 941, 942.)

felony arrestee. No warrant or individualized suspicion is required; nor does the statute require any reason to believe the DNA will assist in investigation of the arrest offense. Collection occurs "immediately following arrest" or "as soon as administratively practicable after arrest, but in any case, prior to release....from confinement or custody." (§§ 296.1(a)(1)(A); 295(i)(1)(A); Haskell, 677 F.Supp. 2d at 1190.)

In contrast to many states' regimens, submission of the DNA for testing and inclusion in the database occurs immediately upon arrest and booking – prior to any prosecutorial charging decision or arraignment.⁷ It is the police decision to arrest the individual and to designate the suspected offense as a felony that triggers the DNA search, rather than any decision by a prosecutor or judge. (Slip opn., p. 5)

Before collecting the DNA sample, police verify an arrestee's identity through fingerprints and California ID and access his criminal records to determine if DNA was collected on a prior arrest or conviction. (§ 295(h)(1); Haskell, 677 F.Supp.2d at 1190, 1199; Slip opn., p. 31.) The state collects DNA only if the arrestee has not previously provided a sample. The officer takes a sample by scraping a buccal swab on the arrestee's inner cheek. (See § 295(e); Haskell, at 1190.)

The arrestee's DNA sample is immediately sent to the Department of Justice's DNA laboratory for "forensic analysis" and indefinite storage. (§ 298.3; *Haskell*, 677 F.Supp.2d at 1190-1191.) The lab creates an "offender profile" "based on 13 genetic loci known as 'noncoding' or 'junk' DNA because they are not known to be associated with any particular genetic trait,

⁷ Compare *King*, 133 S.Ct. at 1967 (Maryland's deferral of submission until after prosecutorial charging and probable cause finding at arraignment).

disease or predisposition." (Slip opn., p. 5.)8

The offender profile is uploaded into California's data bank, which is part of the Combined DNA Index System (CODIS), a national database linking DNA profiles from federal, state and local collection programs. (Slip opn., pp. 6-7; *Haskell* at 1190; *United States v. Kincade* (9th Cir. 2004) 379 F.3d 813, 819.) The offender profile is compared to DNA profiles from unsolved crimes, which are maintained in a separate crime scene index. CODIS performs a systemwide comparison of crime scene and offender profiles every week. (*Haskell* at 1191; *Kincade*, at 819.)

A "hit" occurs when an offender profile matches a crime scene profile. The submitting lab retrieves the offender's original DNA sample, re-extracts the "junk DNA," and generates a new profile, which is compared to the crime scene profile to confirm the match. (*Haskell*, 677 F.Supp.2d at 1191.)

If an arrestee is *not* charged and convicted, he is eligible to seek expungement. Unlike Maryland's procedures, California's expungement process is not automatic. The state retains a former arrestee's profile and DNA sample indefinitely, unless he successfully initiates and navigates a discretionary petition process. (§ 299; slip opn., pp. 7-9; see Pt. VI-C, *infra*.)

C. The Numbers of Arrestees Affected by California's Extension of DNA Searches to All Felony Arrests and Its Advancement of the Searches to the Time of Arrest, Prior to Charging and Arraignment.

The state's own arrest statistics document the scale of California's DNA collection and the consequences of its extension of such searches to all felony

⁸ Cal. Dept. of Justice, Bureau of Forensic Services, Frequently Asked Questions ("Cal. DOJ, FAQ's"), "Searching the CAL-DNA Data Bank and CODIS," Q.3, & "Collection Mechanics." < ">http://oag.ca.gov/bfs/propr69/bfs> {as of Aug. 3, 2015}.

arrests, at the time of arrest, prior to any charging decision or judicial arraignment. California's statutory mandate has resulted the collection and retention of DNA from hundreds of thousands of arrestees — a substantial portion (about one third) of whom are never convicted and many of whom are not even charged or are released within two to four days of arrest

From 2009 through 2014, approximately 300,000 California adults were arrested for felonies every year. For those arrestees who are ultimately convicted, California's more sweeping practice only affects the timing of a search that would have occurred anyway, just at a later date. Consequently, California's extension of DNA collection to all felony arrestees principally impacts those who are not convicted, including those who are never charged.

In California, almost one-third of all adult felony arrestees (approximately 30 to 33%) are not convicted, an average of 95,000 people every year. Most significantly, almost 20% of felony arrestees are *never charged* with a crime. While a very small percentage (about 3%) are released by police without referral to a prosecutor, in most of these cases (approximately 15%), prosecutors decline to file charges. Prosecutors' decisions not to file charges, rather than later dismissals or acquittals, account

⁹ There were 315,782 adult felony arrests in 2014 and 305,503 in 2013. (Cal. Dept. of Justice, *Crime in California 2014* ("*Crime in California 2014*"), Tables 37 & 38A.) http://oag.ca.gov/sites/all/files/agweb/pdfs/cjsc/publications/candd/cd14/cd14.pdf> {as of August 12, 2015}. (These tables are the source for all statistics discussed in this subsection.)

¹⁰ In 2014, 31.1% of felony arrestees were not convicted. From 2009 through 2013, the figures ranged from 30.2 to 33%.

In 2014, 58,462 (18.5%) of felony arrestees were not charged. The police released 10,227 (3.2%), and prosecutors declined to charge 48,235 (15.3%). The statistics reflect similar percentages in prior years.

for almost half of the felony arrests that do not result in convictions. Consequently, although the state's collection of DNA upon arrest, rather than after charging and arraignment, only advances the analysis of the DNA by two-to-four days, that modest head-start effectively doubles the volume of collection from arrestees who are not ultimately convicted. Due to the lack of automatic non-discretionary expungement, the DNA samples and profiles of those non-convicted former arrestees, including those who were never charged, will likely remain indefinitely in state possession, .

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